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SHEDDEN & GREEN PARTNERS 

ABN 43 723 342 276 
 
 

Phone: (02) 9540 1944 
 

Level 3 - Suite 28 
19-21 Central Road 

MIRANDA  NSW  2228 
 

Email: sheddenandgreen@bigpond.com 

PO Box 142 
MIRANDA 1490 

 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional  Standards Legislation 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 

 
To: The Members of Baptist Union of New South Wales & ACT 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the special purpose financial report of Baptist Union of New South Wales & 
ACT, which comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018, 
comprising the statement profit and loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
financial position, statement of changes in equity, statement of Cashflows and notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
In our opinion the financial report of has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the registered entity’s financial position as at 31 
December 2018 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and 
(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent required for special 
purpose financial reports, and Division 60 the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013, and the requirements of the entity’s Constitution and By-
Laws. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the 
registered entity in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the responsible entities’ 
financial reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may 
not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional  Standards Legislation 

Responsibility of Assembly Council for the Financial Report 
 
The responsible entities of the registered entity are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of 
preparation of the financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the ACNC Act 
and the needs of the members. The responsible entities’ responsibility also includes such 
internal control as the responsible entities determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
a financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the responsible entities are responsible for assessing the 
registered entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
responsible entities either intend to liquidate the registered entity or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
The audit objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as 
a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
the financial report. As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
 
We also:  

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the registered entity’s internal control. 

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by responsible entities. 

· Conclude on the appropriateness of responsible entities’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the audit opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the registered entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during the audit. 

 
Shedden & Green Partners 
Lawrence R Green FCA – Partner                                                      Dated: 9 April 2019 
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

ASSEMBLY COUNCIL'S DECLARATION 
31 December 2018 

As detailed in note 2 to the financial statements, the entity is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the Assembly Council 
there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the preparation of reports tailored so as to 
satisfy specifically all of their information needs. Accordingly, this special purpose financial report has been prepared to satisfy the 
Assembly Council's reporting requirements to the Assembly under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012 and the Baptist Union Incorporation Act 1919. 

The Assembly Council declares that: 
(a) in their opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable; and

(b) in their opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the accounting standards
outlined in note 4, giving a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 December 2018 and performance for the
year ended on that date.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Assembly Council of the Baptist Union of New South Wales. 

On behalf of the Assembly Council 

Jamie Long 
Chair 
Sydney, 9 Apr 2019 

3

David Slinn 
Council Member 
Sydney, 9 April 2019 
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 

Contributions from: 
Church partnership contributions 
Baptist Insurance Management Limited 
Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited 

Government grants 
Camp site income 
Interest and investment income 
Gain on disposal of assets 
Rental and property income 
GodSpace sale of goods 
Donations 
Dividend income 
Other income 

Total revenue 

Contributions to: 
Marling College 
National Ministry 

Ministry costs & stipend expenses 
Salaries and wages expense 
Travelling costs 
Program expenses 
Administration costs 
Rent and property expense 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 
GWFC costs 
Camp site expenses 
GodSpace cost of sales 
Finance costs 
Provision for debts 
Other costs 

Total expenses 

Operating surplus/(deficit) 

Other comprehensive income 
(Loss)/ gain on revaluation of investments 
Compensation Income 
Gain on transfer of assets 
Provision for grants 
Other comprehensive income for the year 

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit) for the year 

Notes 

The above statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

5

2018 
$ 

1,454,828 
643,848 

1,056,976 
159,790 
938,321 
158,171 

1,356,538 
2,282,389 

486,834 
76,924 

848,153 
1,061,188 

10,523,960 

(150,000) 
(89,807) 

(2,415,397) 
(900,812) 

(98,750) 
(159,790) 
(465,816) 
(579,440) 
(302,929) 
(299,796) 
(260,395) 
(103,208) 

(829) 

(234,173) 

(6,061,142) 

4,462,818 

(85,051) 
12,241,441 

12,156,390 

16,619,208 

2017 
$ 

1,472,359 
516,914 

1,042,365 
120,010 
878,442 
391,823 

23,728 
13,888 

450,780 
94,975 

432,839 
1,453,461 

6,891,584 

(150,000) 
(84,675) 

(2,199,274) 
(835,638) 

(99,149) 
(117,156) 
(375,551) 
(490,181) 
(252,715) 
(188,080) 
(323,050) 

(96,920) 
(120,844) 

(15,364) 
(147,456) 

(5,496,053) 

1,395,531 

72,929 

30,300,000 
(30,300,000) 

72,929 

1,468,460 
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CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Inventory 
Trade and other receivables 
Investments 

Total current assets 

NON-CURRENT ASSET 

Property, plant and equipment 
Investments 
Loans receivable 

Total non-current assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 
Designated funds 
Provisions 

Total current liabilities 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Provisions 
Loans payable 

Total non-current liabilities 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

NET ASSETS 

EQUITY 
Accumulated funds 
Restricted funds 
Reserves 

TOTAL EQUITY 

BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
at 31 December 2018 

Note 

6 
7 
8 

10 

9 
10 
11 

12 
13 
14 

14 
11 

15 
16 

The above statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

6 

2018 
$ 

10,626,872 
6,346 

12,982,369 
1 !311,443 

24,927,030 

9,705,435 
8,000,000 
2,141,252 

19,846,687 

44,773,717 

786,610 
3,463,852 

436,073 

4,686,535 

104,438 
2,290 

106,728 

4,793,263 

39,980,454 

10,686,733 
25,630,109 

3,663,612 

39,980,454 

2017 
$ 

5,467,260 
18,222 

409,805 
1,423,398 

7,318,685 

11,713,194 
8,000,000 
1,689,865 

21,403,059 

28,721,744 

628,662 
3,182,892 

360,633 

4,172,187 

59,115 
1,129,196 

1,188,311 

5,360,498 

23,361,246 

9,913,393 
11,575,616 

1,872,237 

23,361,246 
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

Balance as at 1 January 2017 
Transfer from reserves 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Balance as at 31 December 2017 
Transfer to/from reserves 
Transfer to/ from restricted funds 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Balance as at 31 December 2018 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 

Accumulated 
funds 

14,494,208 
(4,378,122) 

(202,693) 

9,913,393 
9,913,393 

(1,791,375) 
(1,898,103) 

4,462,818 

773,340 
10,686,733 

Restricted 
funds 

5,526,341 
4,378,122 
1,598,224 

72,929 
11,575,616 
11,575,616 

1,898,103 

12,156,390 
14,054,493 
25,630,109 

The above statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Reserves 

1,872,237 

1,872,237 
1,872,237 
1,791,375 

1,791,375 
3,663,612 

Total 

21,892,786 

1,395,531 
72,929 

23,361,246 
23,361,246 

4,462,818 
12,156,390 
16,619,208 
39,980,454 
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Donations, bequests, contributions and receipts from customers 
Payments to suppliers, employees and other parties 
Interest paid 

Net cash flows from operations 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Amounts advanced (to)/ from related parties 
Payments for property, plant and equipment 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 
Proceeds from investments 
Purchase of investments 

Net cash flow from investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from borrowings 
Repayment of borrowings 

Net cash flow used in financing activities 

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash 

Cash at the beginning of the year 

Cash at the end of the year 

Note 

17 

6 

The above statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

8

2018 
$ 

10,365,788 
(6,630,278) 

(829) 

3,734,681 

(451,388) 
(237,572) 
3,210,786 
(166,677) 

196,689 

2,551,838 

(1,126,907) 

{1,126,907} 

5,159,612 

5,467,260 

10,626,872 

2017 
$ 

5,963,164 
(3,639,425) 

(120,844) 

2,202,895 

4,150,063 
(3,078,500) 

1,788 

1,073,351 

(5,341,694) 

{5,341,694} 

(2,065,448) 

7,532,708 

5,467,260 
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1 General information 

BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

The Baptist Union of New South Wales (the entity) is the incorporated association of Baptist Churches which are 
incorporated under an Act of the New South Wales Parliament known as the 'Baptist Union Incorporation Act 1919'. 
The objects of the Association are to advance the Christian faith by: 

(a) promoting fellowship and cooperation amoung its members, affiliated churches and affiliated groups, 
(b) facilitating the provision of resources for healthy churches, pastors and other church leaders, 
(c) establishing and maintaining places of worship for effective ministry and mission, 
(d) educating, training and accrediting Baptist Ministers and; 
(e) fostering collaborative ministries, projects and missional activities in NSW, the ACT and globally. 

Some property assets and liabilities are held in the name of the Baptist New South Wales Property Trust. The Baptist 
Union of New South Wales is entrusted with the stewardship of those assets and liabilities relating to the activities 
managed by the Baptist Union of New South Wales. 

Comparative figures 
Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 

2 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation 
The entity is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the Assembly Council there are unlikely to exist users of the 
financial report who are unable to command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their 
information needs. Accordingly, these special purpose financial statements have been prepared to satisfy the reporting 
requirements of the Australian Charities and Not For Profits Commission Act 2012 and to satisfy the Board Members' 
reporting requirements to the Assembly Council. The Baptist Union of New South Wales is not required to comply with all 
of the requirements specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. The accounting policies used in the preparation of this report are in the opinion of the 
Assembly appropriate to meet the needs of the members, and are described in note 4. 

The financial report has been prepared in Accordance with the following applicable Accounting standards: 
AASB 101 
AASB 107 
AASB 108 
AASB 1054 
AASB 1031 
AASB 1048 

Presentation of financial statements 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
Australian Additional disclosures 
Materiality 
Interpretation of standards 

For the purposes of preparing the financial statements, the entity is a not-for-profit entity. 
3 Application of new and revised accounting standards 

The entity has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for the current year. 

4 Significant accounting policies 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report: 

{a} Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Contribution income and donations
Contribution income and donations are recognised as revenue when the entity gains control, economic benefits are
probable and the amount can be reliably measured. This is on receipt of the contribution or donation amount.
Camp site income
Camp site income is recognised when the service has been provided.
Gain/loss on sales of properties
The gain or loss on disposal of all non-current assets is determined as the difference between the carrying amount of the 
asset at the time of the disposal and the net proceeds on disposal.
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods comprises of revenue earned net of discounts and returns. Sales revenue is recognised
when the control of goods passes to the customer.

9
8
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(a) Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income 
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principle outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Investment income
Investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised in other comprehensive income until the 
investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the statement of comprehensive income.

In-kind donations
The Baptist Union of New South Wales has a number of volunteers who freely give their time. Amounts are not included in 
the financial report for services donated by volunteers as they cannot be reliably measured. 

(b) Employee benefits 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service 
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Short term employee benefits are amounts that are expected to be wholly settled within twelve months. Liabilities 
recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.
Liabilities recognised in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows to be made by the entity in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

(c) Expenditure 
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs 
related to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to a particular category, they have been allocated to
activities on a basis consistent with the use of the resources.

( d) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which comprises amounts due from sale of goods are recognised and carried at original invoice amount
less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts. Normal terms of settlement are 30 days. The carrying amount of the
receivable is deemed to reflect fair value.
An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect the debt.
Bad debts are written off when identified.

(e) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably. 

Refer to note 4(b) for details on employee benefit provisions. 
(f) Leasing 

Leases are classified as finance lease whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
The entity as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

10 
9
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(f) Leasing (continued)

The entity as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease asset are 
consumed. 

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of any outstanding bank overdrafts. 

(h) Inventories 
Inventories comprise of goods for resale as part of the entity's activities. These are valued at lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 

(i) Property, plant and equipment
Basis of measurement and carrying amount 
Land and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any impairment losses. 
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment (other than land) are depreciated over their useful lived to the entity commencing 
from the time the asset is held ready for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the expected useful 
economic lives of the assets as follows: 

2018 2017 
Computer equipment 3 years 3 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 5 years 
Office equipment 5-10 years 5-10 years 
Fit out 10 years 10 years 
Furniture and fittings 5-10 years 5-10 years 
Plant and equipment 5-10 years 5-10 years 

Derecognition and disposal 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised when the item is no longer used in the operations of the entity. 
Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit and loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

The Baptist Union of NSW is the registered land owner of the land and buildings on which Merling College Ltd's main 
campus is situated. During 2010, a long term lease was entered into at a nominal rate. 
The value of the land as at 31 December 2016 as per the Valuer General was $133m. The value of the improvements to 
the land are recorded by Merling College Ltd. 
As indicated in Note 20, part of this land has been allocated for subdivision and sale under a joint venture development 
agreement. 

(j) Available for sale investments 
Available for sale investments are those financial assets that are designated as available for sale. When available for sale 
financial investments are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value. 
After initial recognition, available for sale financial investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be 
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to 
the statement of comprehensive income.

The fair value of the investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting date. 

11 10
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(k) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables includes the following: 

Trade payables and accruals
Trade payables and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the entity prior to the end of the
financial year that are unpaid. These amounts are usually settled in 30 days. The carrying amount of the creditors and 
payables is deemed to reflect fair value.

Deferred income
The liability for deferred income is unutilised amounts of grants received on the condition that specified services are 
delivered and also pre-paid camp income. The services or conditions in relation to the grants are provided or fulfilled within 
12 months. Services in relation to the pre-paid camp income is also fulfilled within 12 months. 

Redress liability 
Redress liability represents the annual levy paid by Baptist churches in NSW and held by the Baptist Union of NSW under 
the National Redress Scheme for Survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse in Institutional Settings. Amounts will be paid each 
year over the 10 years of the scheme and any unused amounts will be returned to the churches. 

GST payable
Refer to note 4(1) for details on GST payable

(I) Taxation
Income tax
The entity is a charitable organisation for the purposes of Australian taxation legislation and is therefore exempt from 
income tax. Tax exemption has been confirmed by the Australian Taxation Office. The entity operates deductible gift 
recipient funds.

Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables. Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified 
within operating cash flows. 

(m) Restricted funds
From time to time amounts are received by way of donation through special appeal or unsolicited receipts which are
designated for a particular purpose. These and other amounts received for the general purposes of the Baptist Union of 
NSW are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss as revenue while the designated amounts are transferred into 
restricted designated reserves. 

Funds received and held by the Baptist Union of NSW for other purposes are trust monies held for a particular purpose 
and these are recognised as liabilities and carried at fair value.

During the year the Investment and Legacy Funds were reclassified as being unrestricted and transferred to accumulated 
funds as the Assembly Council has discretion over how these amounts are spent. 

(n) Reserves
Reserves include the following:

Contingency reserve
This reserve has been set aside to be used for claims from the Redress Scheme and also for general claims.

Known offenders contingency reserve 
This reserve has been set aside to provide financial assistance to eligible member churches who incur legal defence costs
as a result of the actions of a known offender within their church.

12
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

5 Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are the critical judgements areas and key sources of estimation uncertainty: 
Employee provisions 
Refer to note 4(b). 

Useful lives of property plant and equipment 
Refer to note 4(i). 
Redress liabilities 
Refer to note 4(k). 

13 
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6 

7 

8 

9 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash at bank and on hand 
Short-term deposits 

Inventory 

Finished goods on hand 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables 

BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts 
Net trade receivables 
Other receivables 
Prepayments 
GST receivable 

Property, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings 
At cost 

Plant and equipment 
At cost 
Accumulated depreciation 

10 Investments 
Current 
Marketable securities at fair value 

Non-current 
Capital contributions to Baptist Financial Services 

11 Loans receivable and loans payable 

Loans receivable from Baptist entities: 
Baptist Insurance Management Limited 
Loans receivable from other Baptist entities 

Other loans 

Loans payable to related entities: 
Baptist Insurance Management Limited 
Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited 

Other loans 

14

2018 
$ 

1,799,996 
8,826,876 

10,626,872 

6,346 

104,389 

104,389 
12,636,864 

138,777 
102,339 

12,982,369 

9,181,147 

1,869,494 
(1,345,206) 

524,288 

9,705,435 

1,311,443 

8,000,000 
8,000,000 

604,587 
1,083,488 

453,177 
2,141,252 

(83) 
(2,207) 
(2,290) 

2017 
$ 

1,709,011 
3,758,249 
5,467,260 

18,222 

126,354 

126,354 
62,868 

143,998 
76,585 

409,805 

11,052,367 

1,864,999 
(1,204,172) 

660,827 

11,713,194 

1,423,398 

8,000,000 
8,000,000 

112,254 
1,116,826 

460,785 
1,689,865 

(220,000) 
(902,673) 

(6,523) 
(1,129,196) 

13
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12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Trade and other payables 

Trade payables and accruals 
Redress liability 
Deferred income 

Designated funds 

BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

Baptist Long Service Leave Scheme 

Provisions 
Current 
Make good provision 
Employee benefit provision 

Non-current 
Employee benefit provision 

Restricted funds 
Amcliffe Fund 
Gen1K Fund 
Gen 1 K - South em Sydney 
Gen 1 K - Mosman 
Tax deductible funds 
Narrandera Baptist 
Leeton Baptist 
David Brown Memorial Fund 
Central Coast Church Planting 
Others 

Reserves 
Contingency Reserve 
Known Offenders Reserve 

15

2018 
$ 

531,174 
174,586 

80,850 
786,610 

3,463,852 
3,463,852 

210,000 
226,073 
436,073 

104,438 

479,741 
11,482,202 
12,947,673 

13,304 
270,043 

23,590 
178,383 

37,725 
81,000 

116,448 
25,630,109 

3,137,637 
525,975 

3,663,612 

2017 
$ 

523,901 

104,761 
628,662 

3,182,892 
3,182,892 

154,545 
206,088 
360,633 

59,115 

569,367 
10,389,192 

209,349 
24,292 

164,714 
39,580 
81,000 
98,122 

11,575,616 

1,872,237 

1,872,237 

14
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BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
(trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

17 Reconciliation of (deficit)/surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 

Reconciliation of surplus for the year to cash flows from operations is as follows: 

Operating (deficit)/ surplus 
Add back non-cash items 

(Gain)/loss on disposal of assets 
Unrealised (gain)/ loss 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 

(lncrease)/decrease in assets 
Inventory 
Trade receivables and other receivables 

lncrease/(decrease) in liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Designated funds 
Provisions 

Net cash flows from operations 

18 Commitments for expenditure 

Finance lease payments 
Not longer than 1 year 
Longer than 1 year old and not longer than 5 years 

Operating lease payments 
Not Longer than 1 year 
Longer than 1 year old and not longer than 5 years 

19 Subsequent events 

2018 
$ 

4,462,818 

(1,356,538) 
85,051 

302,929 

11,876 
(331,123) 

157,948 
280,959 
120,763 

3,734,683 

2018 
$ 

2,226 

2,226 

367,050 
48,917 

415,967 

2017 
$ 

1,468,460 

(23,728) 
(72,929) 
252,715 

42,589 
536,598 

(256,044) 
162,634 

92,600 
2,202,895 

2017 
$ 

4,452 
2,226 
6,678 

338,960 
328,261 
667,221 

There has not been any matter of circumstance occurring subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2018 that has 
significantly affected or may affect the operations of the entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
entity in future financial years. 

16 
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20 Other comprehensive income 
Compensation Income 

BAPTIST UNION OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
{trading as the Baptist Association of NSW and ACT) 

ABN 24 941 624 663 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2018 

In 2017, the property of closed church, Hurstville Baptist Church was compulsorily acquired by Georges River Council. In 
2018, compensation of $12.2m was determined and received in 2019. 

Gain on transfer of assets/ Provision for Grants 
During the 2017 year, a portion of the land at Herring Road Macquarie Park owned by the Association and under long term 
lease to Marling College Limited was subdivided and transferred to a Trust wholly owned by the Association under a 
property development agreement whereby the Association will participate in the gains or losses which will emerge from the 
development of a mixed use residential development on this portion of the land. The Assembly Council resolved that a 
grant equal to the agreed value of the land $30.3m be made to Marling Foundation Ltd to be allocated out of the final 
proceeds of the redevelopment. 
For this a wholly owned trust BU (NSW) Development Trust No 1 was established to hold the relevant parcel of land and 
the Union's interest until completion of the development. Until completion the amount of the grant has been raised as a 
provision in these accounts and offset against the same amount attributable to the BUNSW & ACT via its equity in the 
Development Trust. The financial return, if any, to BUNSW & ACT will be brought to account on completion of the 
development. 
The risks of being a joint venturer in a building development such as this have been mitigated to the extent reasonably 
possible and at the date of signing of these accounts settlements in the residential/commercial property on Herring Road 
Macquarie Park were proceeding positively such that it is the current expectation that the financial objectives of the project 
will be achieved. 
During the 2018 year construction of a ministry and learning centre on land occupied by Marling College was commenced 
and this is expected to be completed in late 2019. It is anticipated that The Association will obtain rights to occupy a 
section of the building and that the Baptist Ministry Centre functions will relocate to that building in late 2019. The costs of 
construction are anticipated to be met from the net surplus on the joint venture development referred to above and that no 
sum will be contributed by the Association to the building works. 

On completion it is anticipated that the property on which this building is constructed will continue in its present ownership 
structure but that the building asset will be reflected on the balance sheet of the controlled entity Marling College Limited, 
with the Baptist Union of NSW having a reciprocal agreement providing Marling College Limited with long term rights as to 
ownership of the building and providing Baptist Union of NSW with partial occupancy rights for nominal cost. 

21 Auditor of the entity 

Audit of the financial statements 

2018 
$ 

3,300 

The auditor of Baptist Union Of New South Wales is Shedden and Green Partners Chartered Accountants. 

17

2017 
$ 

3,300 
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A Company Limited by Guarantee 
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BAPTIST FOUNDATION OF NSW LIMITED 

ABN 31 000 871 821 

The Accompanying notes form part of the Annual Financial Report. 
Page 1  

 

 
INCOME STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 
 

 
 Notes 2018 2017 
 
 
Revenues From 
Ordinary Activities  5 $6,023 $7,310 
 
 
Less: Expenditure: 
 
Other expenses from ordinary activities (929) (872) 
  _______ ______ 
Surplus from Ordinary Activities 
Before Income Tax Expense  $5,094 $6,438 
 
Income Tax Expense Relating To   
Ordinary Activities  2 0 0 
      
Net Surplus from Ordinary Activities 
After Income Tax Expense    10 $5,094 $6,438 
 
Total Changes in accumulated funds from  
non-member related transactions  $5,094       $6,438 
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BAPTIST FOUNDATION OF NSW LIMITED 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

 
 
 Notes 2018 2017 
 
 
Balance at the beginning 
Of the year  10 241,499 235,061 
 
Surplus for the year        5,094       6,438 
 
Balance at the end 
Of the year   $246,593 $241,499 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 

     
                                                               Notes                      2018          2017 
CURRENT ASSETS: 
Cash  6 79,224 74,130 
Receivables  7 469 469 
Investments  8 175,000 175,000 
                                                                                   ________     _______ 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  $254,693 $ 249,599 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS: 
                                                                                               _______      ________ 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  $           0 $           0 
 
                                                                                            _______       _______ 
TOTAL ASSETS  $254,693 $249,599 
 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
Payables           9 8,100 8,100 
                                                                                                ______ ______ 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  $8,100 $8,100 
 
                                                                                
 
NET ASSETS  $246,593  $241,499 
 
ACCUMULATED FUNDS AND RESERVES 
 
Accumulated Funds  10 $246,593  $241,499 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 
 
 
 

  2018 2017 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities: 
 

Interest received  5,838    5,915 
Management Fees Received from Trusts 185 135 
Cash paid for Grants and Administration       (929)  (5,318) 
 
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  $     5,094  $     732 
 
 

Cash Flows from Investment 
 

Net (increase)/decrease in investments             0  (10,000) 
 
Net Cash Flows from Investment Activities $           0 $ (10,000) 
 
 

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash held 5,094 (9,268) 
 
Add: Cash at beginning of financial year    74,130      83,398 
 
Cash at End of Financial Year   6 $79,224  $74,130 
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Notes to and forming part of the Accounts for the 

Year ended 30 June 2018 
 
Note 1.  Significant accounting policies  

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all 
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The company has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') 
that are mandatory for the current reporting period.  

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not 
yet mandatory have not been early adopted.  

Any significant impact on the accounting policies of the company from the adoption 
of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations are disclosed in the relevant 
accounting policy. The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position of the 
company. 
 
Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB'), and 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-Commission Act 2012, as appropriate for not-
for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements do not comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board ('IASB').  

Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except for, where applicable, the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, investment 
properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial 
instruments.  
 
 
Revenue recognition   
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the 
company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Accounts for the 

Year ended 30 June 2018 
 
Interest 
 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest is actually received from the various 
financial institutions. This is a change from previous years where interest was 
recognised as it was accrued using the effective interest method.  
 
Investments and other financial assets 
  
Investments and other financial assets are measured at either amortised cost or fair 
value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on the 
purpose of the acquisition and subsequent reclassification to other categories is 
restricted. The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. 
For unlisted investments, the company establishes fair value by using valuation 
techniques. These include the use of recent arms-length transactions, reference to 
other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, 
and option pricing models.  

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the company has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
 
Note 2:  Income Tax 
 
No income tax has been provided on the surplus as the Company has been endorsed 
as an Income Tax Exempt Charity by the Australian Taxation Office since 1 July 2000. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Accounts for the 
Year ended 30 June 2018 

 
Note 3:  Trusts Administered 
The Company is the Trustee and Custodian Trustee for thirty-six (36) Trusts (2017: 
36) for the ministry purposes of the Baptist Churches of NSW & ACT.  At 30 June 
2018 the Company had incurred liabilities on behalf of these Trusts in its capacity 
as Trustee and Custodian Trustee amounting to $Nil (2017: $Nil). 
 
The Company has a right of indemnity in respect of any liabilities out of the Assets 
of the Trusts which comprise - Current Assets $1,858,642 (2017: $1,761,101) Non-
Current Assets $Nil (2017: $Nil). 
 
The Trusts administered by the Company in serving the ministry of the Baptist 
Churches of NSW & ACT as at 30 June 2018 are: 
 

George Backhouse Trust 
Baptist Historical Society of NSW Essay Prize Fund 
Baptist Literature Trust Fund 
Baptist Schools Fund 
Baptist Theological College Prize Funds 
Baptist Theological College of NSW Library Fund 
Baptist Union of NSW Publishing House Ltd Trust 
Sir Cyril Black Church Extension Fund 
Rev W Cleugh Black Memorial Prize Fund 
Frances Church Prize Fund 
Common Fund 
The Helen Cousin Trust 
The Ada Winifred Harrison Trust 
The Hayward Family Trusts – Nos 1 and 2 
Mrs Lily Higlett Memorial Scholarship Fund 
Ena Holland Prize Fund 
J. C. Mackay Award Memorial Fund 
James and Maude Hunter History Trust 
L.G. Le Claire Scholarship Fund 
A. L. Leeder Price Fund 
Rev E.V. Marks Award Fund 
Mortdale-Oatley Baptist Church Trust 
The Mosely Trust 
The Elizabeth Wyndham Mosely Trust 
A. E. Oldfield Trust 
T.A. Parsons Memorial Fund 
J. Allan Reid Memorial Trust Fund 
The E. R. Rogers Scholarship Fund 
Ryde-Hawkesbury District Association Trust 
The Stewards Trust 
The Allan Spurgeon Tinsley Training Fund 
W and E Tinsley Scholarship 
The Noel and Ivy Wales Evangelistic Trust 
R.E. Walker Prize Fund 
R.E. Walker Scholarship Fund 
P.G. Young Trust 
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Notes to and forming part of the Accounts for the 
Year ended 30 June 2018 

 
  2018 2017 
 
Note 4:  Contingent Liabilities 
No contingent liabilities exist as at 30 June 2018. 
 
Note 5: Revenues from Ordinary Activities 
Interest Received  5,838 4,675 
Management Fees       185      135 
Donations           0         2,500 
  $ 6,023 $7,310 
 
Note 6: Cash 
Cash held with RaboDirect  3,436 2,144 
Cash held with NAB   75,788  71,986 
Cash at National Australia Bank Ltd $ 79,224 $ 74,130 
 
Note 7: Receivables 
Sundry Debtors & Accrued Interest     469    469 
  $   469 $   469 
 
Note 8: Investments - at cost 
AMP  32,000 32,000 
Baptist Financial Service      20,000  20,000 
RaboDirect  47,000  47,000  
Rural Bank     76,000      76,000 
  $175,000 $175,000 
 
Note 9: Payables 
Accounts Payable  $8,100       $8,100 
 
Note 10:  Statement of Changes in Accumulated Funds and Reserves 
Balance at beginning of Year   241,499    235,061 
Surplus for the Year     5,094      6,438 
Balance at end of Year  $246,593  $241,499 
 
 
Note 11: Auditor’s Remuneration 
Auditing Services  $       0  $       0 
Other Services  $       0 $       0 
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BAPTIST FOUNDATION OF NSW LIMITED 

ABN 31 000 871 821 

The Accompanying notes form part of the Annual Financial Report. 
Page 9  

 

Notes to and forming part of the Accounts for the 
Year ended 30 June 2018 

   
Note 12:  Members’ Guarantee 
The Company is regulated under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 as a non-profit Public Company limited by guarantee.   
 
Every member of the Foundation undertakes to contribute up to one dollar ($1.00) to 
the assets of the Company in the event of a winding-up during their period of 
membership and for one year following cessation of membership for the payment of 
any debts and liabilities of the Company contracted prior to cessation of membership 
together with the costs, charges and expenses of winding-up.  At the 30 June 2018 
the number of members was 37 (2017: 37). 

 
 

Note 13: Company Details 
The Registered Office of the company is: 
Level 6, 1 Pacific Highway 
North Sydney NSW 2060 
 
The Principal Place of Business is: 
Level 1, 3 Carlingford Road, 
Epping NSW 2121 
 
 
Note 14: Related Parties 
 
Disclosures on Key Management Personnel (KMP) 
The Key Management Personnel are the 4 Directors of the company.  The Directors 
are responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company.  
The Secretary represents the key management personnel involved with the operation 
of the company. 
 
No Director or the Secretary received remuneration from the company during the 
year. 
 
There are no loans to KMP and no other transactions with KMP. 
 
 
Note 15: Financial Instruments and Risk 
 
There is no currency risk as funds are held in Australian currency and there are no 
foreign currency commitments.  There is no market risk as funds are held in short- 
term interest bearing accounts and term deposits only.  Specific institutions in which 
funds are held are disclosed in Notes 8 and 9.  These are each held to maturity 
investments. 
 
The exposure to interest rate risk (based on funds held at balance date) is: 
 

For a change of 0.5% in interest rates, income would change by $942 (last year 
$942) 
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BAPTIST FOUNDATION OF NSW LIMITED 

ABN 31 000 871 821 

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 

The directors declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes as set out on pages 1 to 10 are in accordance
with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012.

(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure
Requirements and other mandatory professional reporting requirements

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and
of the performance for the year ended on that date of the entity;

2. In the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the
Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Nigel Glasby
Director

Dated at Sydney this 24th day of April 2019 

The Accompanying notes form part of the Annual Financial Report. 
Page 10 
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Baptist Insurance Management Limited 
ABN 38 102 285 094

Special Purpose Financial Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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SHEDDEN & GREEN PARTNERS 

ABN 43 723 342 276 
 
 

 

Phone: (02) 9540 1944 
 

Level 3 - Suite 28 
19-21 Central Road 

MIRANDA  NSW  2228 
 

Email: sheddenandgreen@bigpond.com 

PO Box 142 
MIRANDA 1490 

 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional  Standards Legislation 

 

27 February 2019 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
Baptist Insurance Management Limited 
Suite 101 
3 Carlingford Road 
EPPING NSW 2121 
 
Independence of the Auditors 
 
We confirm that for the audit of the financial report Baptist Insurance Management Limited 
for the year ended 31 December 2018, we have maintained our independence in accordance 
with requirements of Shedden & Green Partners, with the provisions of Professional 
Statement F1. 
 
In the spirit of this confirmation, we have prepared the following comments to facilitate 
discussion and enable you to have a clear understanding of the issue. 
 
Other services 
 
We have not carried out any engagements for the entity that would impair our firm’s 
professional independence as auditor. 
Any services provided are subject to our own and the profession’s strict rules and policies 
regarding auditor independence, as well as to certain statutory requirements. We enforce 
these rules and policies in order to maintain objectivity and to be free of conflicts of interest 
when discharging our professional responsibilities. 
Our appointment as service provider for these engagements has been subject to the 
Company’s corporate governance procedures encompassing the selection of service 
providers and the setting of their remuneration. Some of the safeguards we follow with regard 
to auditor independence in relation to the provision of these services include ensuring: 
 

• the services have not involved partners or staff acting in a managerial or decision-
making capacity, or being involved in the processing or originating of transactions; 

• the services have only been provided where we are satisfied that the related function 
or process will not have a material bearing on our planned audit procedures and 
would not involve us auditing our own work; 

• the partners and staff involved in the provision of non-audit services have not 
participated in the Company’s associated approval or authorisation processes; and  

 
Based on the above safeguards, we are satisfied that the provision of other services has not 
in any way compromised our independence as external auditor of the Company. 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional  Standards Legislation 

 
 
Seconded staff 
 
Professional staff members have not been seconded to the entity.  It is our policy that if such 
secondment did occur then seconded staff would not normally be members of the audit team 
except that where seconded staff were also members of the audit team, they would have not 
been directly involved in the audit of their own work papers, calculations or other relevant 
documents generated by them during the period of their secondment. 
 
Unresolved disagreements 
 
We have not had any unresolved disagreements with management about matters that 
individually or in aggregate could be significant to the financial report. Furthermore, 
management has not sought to influence our views on matters relevant to our opinion. 
 
Financial interests 
 
As your auditors, direct and material indirect investment in the Company or any entities 
related to the entity or to its Board is prohibited to us, subject to certain grandfathering 
provisions for immaterial investments. In summary this prohibition extends to: 

• all partners and professional staff, and superannuation fund and any entities 
controlled by them; 

• the families of these partners and professional staff; and 
• the firm’s partner and staff superannuation funds. 

 
We seek annual confirmation from our partners and staff that they have complied with this 
requirement and we actively monitor financial interests of our partners and staff.  Based on 
the results of this we are not aware of any instances where partners or staff are not in 
compliance with this requirement in relation to this engagement. 
 
Borrowings 
 
The Company is not permitted to lend to the general public but in some situations there are 
still conceivably circumstances where a borrowing could have been made.  Borrowing from 
the Company is generally prohibited for our partners as well as staff and their relatives and 
any associated entities. We seek annual confirmation from partners and staff that they do not 
have such borrowings from the company as are prohibited under the Corporations Act 2001 
or by our policy. Based on the results of this confirmation, we are not aware of any instances 
where our partners or relevant staff are not in compliance with this policy. 
 
Other relationships 
 
There are no situations where a spouse or close relative of a partner or staff members 
involved in the audit occupy a position as a director or executive of the Company that is 
significant to the audit. 
 
There are no situations where a partner or staff member has accepted a position of 
employment with the Company or any controlled or related entities in a senior executive or 
managerial capacity during or since the end of the financial year. 
 
This report is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors, management, and others 
within the entity and should not be used for any other purpose. 
 
Yours faithfully 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 

 
To: The Members of Baptist Insurance Management Limited 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the special purpose financial report of Baptist Insurance Management 
Limited, which comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018, 
Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, accompanying notes and the directors declaration for the 
year then ended. 
 
In our opinion the financial report of Baptist Insurance Management Limited has been 
prepared in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 
Commission Act 2012, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the registered entity’s financial position as at 31 
December 2018 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and 
(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent required for special 
purpose financial reports, and Division 60 the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the 
registered entity in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the responsible entities’ 
financial reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may 
not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Responsibility of Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 
 
The responsible entities of the registered entity are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of 
preparation of the financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the ACNC Act 
and the needs of the members. The responsible entities’ responsibility also includes such 
internal control as the responsible entities determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
a financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the responsible entities are responsible for assessing the 
registered entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
responsible entities either intend to liquidate the registered entity or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
The audit objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as 
a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
the financial report. As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
 
We also:  

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the registered entity’s internal control. 

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by responsible entities. 

· Conclude on the appropriateness of responsible entities’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the audit opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the registered entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during the audit. 

 
Shedden & Green Partners 
Lawrence R Green FCA – Partner                                                      Dated: 26 February 2019 
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Baptist Financial Services Australia  
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ABN 56 002 861 789
AFSL 311 062

Concise Financial Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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The Directors of Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited (BFS) submit herewith their report together with 
the Annual Financial Report of the consolidated entity, being Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited (the 
Company) and its Controlled Entity (the Group) for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and the 
Independent Auditor’s Report. 

Directors details  
The names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of each Director in office at any time during the 
year and up to the date of this report are:

Owen Hsiao-Fen Chew Lee 
BSc, BCA, FCA, GAICD 

Board Chairman from 11 December 2014; Deputy 
Board Chairman to 11 December 2014; Chairman 
of Assets and Liabilities Committee, Member of 
Board Governance & Remuneration Committee 
from 12 December 2014. 

Member of Gordon Baptist Church, NSW 

Appointed a Director from 22 July 2008 

Over 25 years financial services experience in 
banking, including senior roles in Regulatory Affairs 
(International and Domestic), Treasury, Strategy, 
Mergers and Acquisitions, Finance and Corporate 
Finance in Australia and Asia. Qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant with Ernst & Young. 

 

Gregory Paul Holland 
BBus (Accounting), CPA, GAICD 

Member of the Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee from 10 March 2014, (Chairman of 
committee from 11 July 2014); Member of Audit 
Risk and Compliance Committee from 18 February 
2016. 

Member of Lake Joondalup Baptist Church, WA 

Appointed a Director from 11 February 2014 

Head of Finance & Administration for the Baptist 
Churches of Western Australia. Former Chief 
Executive Officer of Ray Village Aged Services Inc., 
WA, former General Manager Finance / Chief 
Financial Officer and General Manager HR and 
Shared Services at Capricorn Society Ltd, WA, 
former Chief Financial Officer of University of 
Western Sydney, NSW and former Director 
Management Services of Edith Cowan University, 
WA. 

 

Karen James 
BSEE, MSEE, MAICD, MIE 

Member of the Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee from 28 June 2018; Member of Credit 
Committee from 14 September 2018. 

Member of Seaforth Baptist Church  

Appointed a Director from 22 February 2018. 

CEO of On Purpose Hub and KBSN Pty Ltd. 
Former senior roles at Commonwealth Bank 
including General Manager of Affiliate Business 
Banking for Corporate Financial Services & General 
Manager, Direct Sales and Service for Local 
Business Banking. Former senior management, 
consulting and project roles in systems, network 
and product engineering. 

Ross Martin Langford 
BCom, MAICD, Memb ASFA, F.FINSIA 

Member of Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee 
from 28 May 2015 until 18 February 2016; Member 
of Assets & Liabilities Committee from 18 February 
2016; Chairman of Credit Committee from 14 
September 2018. 

Member of Gymea Baptist Church, NSW  

Appointed a Director from 13 March 2015 

Head of Credit Assurance with a major overseas 
bank (Rabobank). Formerly Head of Finance, 
Property & Administration at St George Christian 
School and formerly Senior Relationship 
Management, Regional Lending Manager and 
Senior Manager positions with Commonwealth 
Bank, BankWest and State Bank NSW. Currently 
Director of Christian Super and member of Risk 
Management Association. 

  

Directors’ Report 
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Darren Leigh McDonald 
BA (Accounting), CPA, MBA 

Member of Assets & Liabilities Committee from 20 
June 2014; Member of Audit Risk & Compliance 
Committee from 20 June 2014 (Chairman of the 
committee from 12 December 2014); Member of 
Credit Committee from 14 September 2018. 

Member of King’s Baptist Church Inc., SA  

Appointed a Director from 29 May 2014 

Business Manager of Kings Baptist Grammar 
School Inc., SA; former Executive / Finance 
Manager of Woolworths Ltd, Board of Kings Baptist 
Grammar School Inc., SA including 2 years as 
Chairman, Chairman and Treasurer of King’s 
Baptist Church Inc., SA; Public Officer and Director 
of King’s Baptist Mount Barker Inc., SA. 

Sally Anne Mullins 
BBus (Business Administration), Grad Dip HR 
& IR 

Member of the Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee from 9 December 2015. 

Member of Ashburton Baptist Church, VIC  

Appointed a Director from 9 December 2015 

Manager Communications and Administration at 
The Village Church, Mt Eliza. Previously 
Organisational Development and Projects Manager 
at a boutique Leadership and Talent consultancy 
business and formerly a Senior Human Resource 
Consultant at National Australia Bank with over 20 
years’ experience in various HR roles in Australia 
and overseas. 

Peter Jeffrey Murphy 
M.Comm; MA (C.S.); B.Bus; FCPA; FASFA; 
GAICD 

Member of Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee 
from 23 March 2018; Member of Credit Committee 
from 14 September 2018 

Member of Mortdale Oatley Baptist Church. 

Appointed a Director from 1 August 2017.  

Partner Robertson and Chang, Director/ Secretary 
Responsible Investment Association Australasia 
Chair Impact Investing Forum, Director Baptist Care 
NSW & ACT. 

Former CEO of an Industry Superannuation Fund, 
Administrative Dean of a Theological College, 
Company Secretary of Aged Care Provider, 
Business Manager of School and Director – 
Finance of Not for Profit organisation within a range 
of faith based organisations. 

Allan Kenneth Priest 
Unrestricted Building Work & 
Plumbing/Gasfitting contracting and 
restricted Electrical Worker licenses, Diploma 
for Public Health Inspectors, MAICD 

Deputy Chairman from 18 February 2016. Member 
of Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (Chairman 
of committee to 12 December 2014); Member of 
Assets and Liabilities Committee; Member of Board 
Governance & Remuneration Committee to 12 
December 2014; Member of Credit Committee from 
14 September 2018. 

Member of Rostrevor Baptist Church Inc., SA 

Appointed a Director from 31 May 2005 

Director then Managing Director of family plumbing 
and building business 1972-2003; Manager of two 
Commercial Rental Properties 1989 - 2013; 
Member of Baptist Churches of South Australia Inc. 
(BCSA) Assembly Board 2004 - 2015, including as 
President 2006-2009, also past service (including 
as Chairman) on numerous other BCSA 
Committees and working parties; Chairman of 
Baptist Care (SA) Inc. 2007 - 2015 after joining 
Board in 2006; current Director and Deputy Chair of 
Baptist Care (SA) Foundation Nominees Pty Ltd 
and Member of Kings Baptist Association of Kings 
Baptist Grammar School Inc.; Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors; and 28 
years' past service in numerous senior leadership 
roles of Rostrevor Baptist Church Inc. (SA) 
including as Treasurer, Administrator & Chairman. 
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Alan Leslie Soden 
FAIML, MAIE 

Member of the Assets and Liabilities Committee to 
12 December 2014, Member of the Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee to 12 December 2014, 
Member of the Communications Due Diligence 
Committee to 12 December 2014 and Member of 
the Board Governance & Remuneration Committee. 
Secretary of the company since 20 November 
2001.  

Appointed a Director from 13 August 2002 

Member of Port Macquarie Baptist Church, NSW  

Previously, Interim Pastor, Port Macquarie Baptist 
Church, former Director and Chief Executive Officer 
of Kairos Prison Ministry Australia, Member of 
Baptist Churches of New South Wales Property 
Trust, Trustee Director BCS Foundation, Certified 
CEO and alumni of the CEO Institute, former 
Chairman of Hopestreet, former General Secretary 
of the Association of Baptist Churches of NSW & 
ACT, former Board Member and Vice President of 
the Bible Society of NSW, former National 
Secretary and Member of the National Council of 
the Baptist Union of Australia and former Secretary 
of Baptist Insurance Management Pty Ltd, 
Recognised Baptist Minister, previously in general 
management roles of training, marketing, public 
affairs and sales with the Australian Gaslight 
Company. 

Andrew David Staunton 
BBus (Economics and Finance), MDiv, Grad 
Dip Theology, Registered Building 
Practitioner 

Member of Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee from 18 February 2016; Member of 
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee from 28 
May 2015; Member of Credit Committee from 14 
September 2018. 

Member of Ashburton Baptist Church, Vic 

Appointed a Director from 28 May 2015 

 

Partnership Development Consultant - Global 
Interaction Victoria/Tas. Previously Pastor 
Newmarket Baptist Church; Business Banker, 
National Australia Bank (1997-2003), Minister of 
Religion (2003 - Present), Ordained by the BUV 
2010. Building and Project Management Consultant 
(2012 - Present)  

John Andrews 
Dip FP 

Member of Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee 
from 28 September 2016; Member of Assets & 
Liabilities Committee from 1 December 2016. 

Member of Syndal Baptist Church, Vic 

Appointed a Director from 26 May 2016 

Director of Operations & Finance at Syndal Baptist 
Church. Formerly Sales Executive: Proprietor & 
Operator of Matilda's Books: National Financial 
Planning Manager for Guild Financial Services; 
National Practices Manager for Investor Group and 
various other positions with Financial Planning and 
Life Insurance Companies. 

Ceased being a director on 6 November 2018 

 

Company Secretaries 
David Slinn 

Alan Soden 
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Meetings of Directors 
During the year, 30 meetings of directors (including committees of directors) were held. Attendances by each 
Director during the year are set out below: 

 

State 

 
Board  ARCCo  ALCo  BGRCo  CCo 

  
H A  H A  H A  H A  H A 

Owen H Chew Lee NSW 
 

13 11  
  

 5 4  6 5    

John Andrews VIC 
 

10 10  3 3  4 3  
  

   

Gregory P Holland WA 
 

13 12  4 4  
  

 6 6    

Ross M Langford NSW 
 

13 13  
  

 5 5  
  

 2 2 

Darren L McDonald SA 
 

13 13  4 4  5 5  
  

 2 2 

Sally A Mullins VIC 
 

13 13  
  

 
  

 6 6    

Allan K Priest SA 
 

13 13  4 4  5 5  
  

 2 2 

Alan L Soden NSW 
 

13 13  
  

 
  

 6 6    

Andrew D Staunton VIC 
 

13 13  4 3  
  

 6 6  2 1 

Karen James NSW  12 11        4 4  2 2 

Peter Murphy NSW  13 13  4 4        2 2 

H=Meetings held during the year, or during the term of appointment; A=Attended; ARCCo=Audit, 
Risk & Compliance Committee; ALCo=Assets & Liabilities Committee; BGRCo= Board Governance 
& Remuneration Committee; CCo – Credit Committee. 

Principal activities  
The principal activities of the Company during the financial year were the provision of financial solutions for the 
particular needs of churches and Christian ministries, the facilitation of the financing of churches and ministries 
through participating State Baptist Unions/Associations and the Baptist Union of Australia, and, subject to capital 
adequacy needs, the making of grants to State Baptist Unions/Associations and the Baptist Union of Australia for 
ministry. 

There has been no significant change in those activities during the financial period. The entity's short term 
strategic objectives are to: 

 Maintain and introduce relevant financial services for Baptist entities and Christian ministries in Australia 
 Maintain the adequacy of funds and reserves 
 Address all relevant regulatory requirements 

The entity's long term objectives are to: 

 Further develop recognition of BFS by the Australian Baptist community as its primary financial services 
provider 

 Continue to extend the use of BFS services within Baptist Churches, congregations and Christian 
organisations across Australia  

To achieve these objectives, the entity has adopted the following strategies: 

 Sponsor nationally oriented support services for Churches 
 Appoint staff as required in accordance with the Strategic Priorities 
 Continue to enhance existing financial services and develop new products 
 Review relevant regulatory frameworks for the ongoing provision and extension of BFS services. 
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Financial Performance Disclosures 
Result and Review of Operations 

The operating surplus/ (deficit) from ordinary operations for the year was $4,418,832 (2017: $4,457,912). 
After deducting Grants made to Baptist entities of $1,162,973 (2017:$ 1,144,218), the Net Operating 
Income for the year was $3,255,859 (2017: $3,313,694). 

BFS resources ministry through making available loans to churches and other Christian ministries. This 
ministry objective is funded from accumulated reserves and through inviting investments for the 
Charitable Investment Scheme. 

During the year the Board continued the review of the capital adequacy framework. This framework 
indicated that an appropriate capital structure, including capital contributions and retention of surpluses, 
be maintained to fund the expected future growth in operations and to meet desired Prudential 
Equivalent levels of capital. 

The Company operates a registered Charitable Investment Scheme to raise funds so that loans and 
advances can be made to resource Baptist and other Christian ministries. Loans and advances primarily 
comprise secured commercial loans to these entities. The Financial Report provides additional 
information in Note 16 regarding Risk Management. 

Liquidity was maintained consistently during the year at levels well above the Board's determined 
minimum of $25 million plus 20% of total client funds, and significantly in excess of the 20% requirement 
set out in BFS' Identification Statement lodged with ASIC. 

Key Performance Measures 

The Company measures its performance through the use of quantitative benchmarks. The benchmarks 
are used by the directors to assess whether the Company's short-term and long-term objectives are 
being achieved. 
 2018 2017 

Actual Benchmark Actual Benchmark 
Growth in total client investments 15.2% 7.0% 4.2% 7.0% 
Growth in loans advanced 7.2% 7.0% 8.7% 7.0% 
Growth in total assets 14.3% 5.0% 5.4% 5.0% 
Ratio of loans advanced to total client investments 64.7% 65.0% 62.3% 60.0% 
 

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors 
During the financial year the Company incurred a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the 
Company and all Executive Officers of the Company against a liability incurred as such a Director or Executive 
Officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The insurance contract does not permit disclosure 
of the premium or terms relating to such Directors or Executive Officers. No indemnity has been given or 
insurance premiums paid for the Auditor. 

 

Subsequent Events 
In the opinion of the Directors, since the end of the year to the date of this report, no matter or circumstance has 
arisen that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.  

  

– 106 – – 107 –

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018  |  BAPTIST FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LTD



– 108 – – 109 –

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018  |  BAPTIST FINANCIAL SERVICES AUSTRALIA LTD



 
 

 

7 

   

   
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

www.grantthornton.com.au 

Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
Correspondence to: 
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230 
 
T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 4445 
E info.nsw@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration  
To the Directors of Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited  

 

 

 
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 and section 60 – 40 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, as lead auditor for the audit of Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited 
for the year ended 31 December 2018, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
Madeleine Mattera 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 
 
Sydney, 11 April 2019 
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 
 Notes 2018 2017 
  $ $ 

Gross Interest Revenue 18 16,579,247     15,389,957  
Gross Interest Expense 18 (8,204,354) (7,695,799) 
Net Interest Income  8,374,893     7,694,158  
    
Other Income  248,110 165,294 
Expected credit loss 7 164,429 - 
Operating expenses 17 (4,368,600) (3,401,540) 
    
NET OPERATING SURPLUS 18 4,418,832 4,457,912 
    
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)    
Change in derivative liability  15(c) (402,556) - 
Fair value change in investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 9 (1,298,230) - 

    
Total Comprehensive Income  2,718,046 4,457,912 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
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As at 31 December 2018 
 Notes 2018 2017 
  $ $ 

Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 4 18,823,372 3,666,326  
Loans and advances - interest bearing 5 245,454,646 228,580,264  
Other receivables and prepayments 8 1,197,344 1,062,603  
Investment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 9 153,655,292 - 
Investments 9 - 130,230,867 
Non-current asset held for sale 10 - 2,416,556  
Other assets 11 321,478 194,778  
Total assets  419,452,132 366,151,394 
Liabilities    
Payables - interest bearing 12 384,409,178 333,739,884  
Trade and Other Payables 13 3,247,618 3,146,360  
Total liabilities  387,656,796 336,886,244 
Net assets  31,795,336 29,265,150 
Equity    
Accumulated funds 14 15,659,717 13,321,042  
Contributions reserve 15(a), 3(g) 14,950,000 14,950,000  
Future grants reserve 15(b), 3(h) 927,478 994,108  
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) reserve  15 (c) 258,141 - 
Total equity  31,795,336 29,265,150 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position 
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 
Accumulated 

Funds 
Contributions 

Reserve 
Future Grants 

Reserve FVOCI Reserve Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
2018      
Balance carried forward 13,321,042 14,950,000 994,108 - 29,265,150 
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9 10,294 - - 1,958,927 1,969,221 
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 13,331,336 14,950,000 994,108 1,958,927 31,234,371 
Net Operating Surplus 4,418,832 - - - 4,418,832 
Change in derivative liability  - - - (402,556) (402,556) 
Fair value change in investments at 
FVOCI - - - (1,298,230) (1,298,230) 

Total Comprehensive Income 4,418,832 - - (1,700,786)  2,718,046 
Grants to Baptist Entities (1,162,973) - (994,108) - (2,157,081) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (927,478) - 927,478 - - 
      
Balance at 31 December 2018 15,659,717 14,950,000 927,478 258,141 31,795,336 
      
2017      
Net Operating Surplus 4,457,912 - - - 4,457,912 
Grants to Baptist Entities (1,144,218) - (991,381) - (2,135,599) 
Total Comprehensive Income 3,313,694 - (991,381) - 2,322,313 
Balance carried forward 11,001,456 14,950,000 991,381 - 26,942,837 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (994,108) - 994,108 - - 
      
Balance at 31 December 2017 13,321,042  14,950,000 994,108  -    29,265,150  

 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Accumulated Funds & Reserves 
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 
 Notes 2018 2017 
  $ $ 
Operating services    
Interest received from loans  10,829,616 9,527,067 
Interest from other investments  5,614,890 6,012,290 
Donations, subscriptions & Sundry income  248,110 165,294 
Interest paid to investors  (8,770,036) (7,695,799) 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (3,881,810) (3,346,159) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 20 (2) 4,040,770 4,662,693 
Investing activities    
Church & other loans advanced  (56,367,309) (60,016,247) 
Church & other loan payments received  39,667,649 20,191,532 
Payments for leasehold improvements, software & web design, furniture & 
computers  (250,856) (124,419) 

Grants paid to Baptist Entities  (2,157,081) (2,135,599) 
Decrease/ (Increase) in other receivables  (103,125) 95,524 
Decrease/ (Increase) in investments  (24,208,520) 17,930,605 
Received from investors (net)  50,669,294 15,585,882 
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities  7,250,052 (8,472,722) 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  11,290,822 (3,810,029) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  7,532,550 11,342,579 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 4, 20 (1) 18,823,372 7,532,550 

 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
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1. General Information and Statement of Compliance 
The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements of Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited 
(“BFS” or “the Company”) and its controlled entity Baptist Development Australia Pty Ltd ("the Group").  

These consolidated financial statements are general purpose statements that have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements, to satisfy the requirements of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated 
financial report complies with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the consolidated financial report, comprising the consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Baptist 
Financial Services Australia Limited is a not for profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 were approved and authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 11 April 2019. 

2. Changes in accounting policies 

2.1 New standards adopted as at 1 January 2018 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments  

AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It 
makes major changes to the previous guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and 
introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model for impairment of financial assets.  

When adopting AASB 9, the Group has applied transitional relief and opted not to restate prior periods. 
Differences arising from the adoption of AASB 9 in relation to classification, measurement, and impairment are 
recognised in opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.  

The adoption of AASB 9 has impacted the following areas: 

Classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets 

The Group’s financial assets at 31 December 2017 were classified as either Held to maturity financial assets or 
Loans and advances under AASB 139. Held to maturity financial assets included listed convertible preference 
shares of $38,678,744; other listed securities of $934,650; unlisted debt instruments of $90,617,473 at 31 
December 2017. These were reclassified as fair value through other comprehensive income under AASB 9. At 
the date of initial application the Group’s business model is to both to collect contractual cash flows and 
potentially sell the financial instruments. The contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest. 

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market and that BFS did not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Subsequent to adoption of 
AASB 9 loans and advances are measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at fair value plus 
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
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Impairment of financial assets  

The Group’s financial instruments carried at amortised cost and those carried at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are subject to AASB 9’s new three-stage expected credit loss model. BFS measures loss 
allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12 
month ECL: 

 debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
 other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial 

recognition 
BFS considers a debt security to have low credit risk when their credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally 
understood definition of ‘investment grade’. 12 month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events 
on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

Hedge accounting  

All of the Group’s interest rate swaps had been designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges under 
AASB 139. All hedging relationships that were hedging relationships under AASB 139 at the 31 December 2017 
reporting date, meet AASB 9’s criteria for hedge accounting at 1 January 2018 and are therefore regarded as 
continuing hedging relationships. 

Reconciliation of financial instruments on adoption of AASB 9  

On the date of initial application, 1 January 2018, the financial instruments of the Group were reclassified as 
follows: 

 
Measurement Category Carrying amount 

 Original  
Closing 
balance  

Opening 
balance 

 
AASB 139 

Classification 
New AASB 9 

Classification 
31 Dec 2017  
(AASB 139) 

Adoption of  
AASB 9 

1 Jan 2018  
(AASB 9) 

Financial Assets      
Investment Portfolio Held to Maturity FVOCI 130,230,867 1,958,927 132,189,794 
Loans and advances - 
interest bearing 

Loans & 
Receivables Amortised cost 228,580,264 - 228,580,264 

Impairment of Loans Loans & 
Receivables 

Expected 
Credit Losses (3,618,738) 10,294 (3,608,444) 

Financial Liabilities      
Payables - interest bearing Amortised cost Amortised cost 333,739,884 - 333,739,884 

Derivatives - Hedge 
accounting applied 

Fair value with 
effective 
movements 
included in cash 
flow hedge 
reserve 

Fair value with 
effective 
movements 
included in 
cash 
flow hedge 
reserve 

- - - 

 

Impairment provisions on adoption of AASB 9 - 1 January 2018   
     
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  

 
12 months ECL 

Collectively assessed 
 

Lifetime ECL 
Individually assessed 

 

Lifetime ECL 
Individually assessed 

 
Total 

 

Secured lending 1,653,373 1,861,125 - 3,514,498 
Unsecured lending 68,625 25,321 - 93,946 
Total 1,721,998 1,886,446 - 3,608,444 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

a) Overall consideration 

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are summarised below. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the 
measurement bases specified by Australian Accounting Standards for each type of asset, liability, income and 
expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies below. 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded could result in 
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions events and conditions. 
Significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have been 
consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 

b) Basis of Consolidation 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiaries as of 
31 December 2018. The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. 
All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 31 December. 

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised 
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales 
are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. 
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.  

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and net 
assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries 
between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.  

c) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Land and Buildings are recognised at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation on Buildings and 
accumulated impairment losses. Property, plant and equipment, with the exception of freehold land, are 
depreciated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to the 
Company. The useful lives are adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. Estimated useful lives as at the 
reporting date are as follows: 

 Computers   33.33%  

 Furniture and Equipment  10.00%  

 Leasehold Improvements  Remaining term of lease 

The carrying values of Property, Plant and Equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

d) Income Tax 

No income tax has been provided for in these consolidated financial statements as the Company has been 
endorsed by the Australian Taxation Office as an income tax exempt charitable institution, and is also registered 
as a Charity with the Australian Charities & Not-for-profits Commission. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

e) Membership 

The Company is a company limited by guarantee. Membership consists of each person who is a member of the 
Board. At balance date there were 10 members. The liability of members in the event of a deficit upon winding up 
the Company is limited to $100. If upon winding up there remains a surplus, then the first part of the surplus, up 
to the limit of Contributions Reserve, will be repaid to the Contributor, and any remaining surplus given or 
transferred to State Baptist Unions and Associations or, failing that, to some other institution(s) having objectives 
and restrictions on distributions similar to the Company, such institutions being determined by the members. 

f) Financial instruments 

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, 
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.  

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is 
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.  

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the 
transaction price, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where 
applicable). 

 For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as 
hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition: 

 amortised cost  

 fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  

 debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  

 equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Equity at FVOCI)  

Classifications are determined by both:  

 The entity’s business model for managing the financial asset  

 The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets 

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 
finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables, which is 
presented within other expenses.  

Subsequent measurement financial assets 

Financial assets at amortised cost  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVPL): 

 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 
cash flows; and  

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is 
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  
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Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Debt FVOCI)  

Financial assets with contractual cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest and held 
within a business model of collecting the contractual cash flows and selling the assets are accounted for at debt 
FVOCI. 

Any gains or losses recognised in OCI will be reclassified to profit or loss upon derecognition of the asset. This 
category includes investments that were previously classified as held to maturity under AASB 139. 

The Group does not have any assets in the categories FVPL or Equity FVOCI. 

Impairment of Financial assets  

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward looking information to recognise expected credit losses - 
the ‘expected credit losses model’. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements included loans and 
other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables and loan 
commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.  

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit 
losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected 
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.  

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:  

 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that have 
low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and  

 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose 
credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’).  

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.  

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are 
recognised for the second category. Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. They are measured as 
follows: 

 financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to BFS in accordance with the contract and the 
cash flows that BFS expects to receive); 

 financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows; and 

 undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows 
that are due to BFS if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that BFS expects to receive. 

 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, BFS assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A 
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
 a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
 the restructuring of a loan or advance by BFS on terms that BFS would not consider otherwise; 
 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

 

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be 
credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced 
significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.  
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In making an assessment of whether an investment in debt securities is credit-impaired, BFS considers the 
following factors: 

 The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields; 
 The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness; 
 The issuer’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance; and 
 The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or 

mandatory debt forgiveness. 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the 
assets; 

 loan commitments: generally, as a provision; and 
 where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and BFS cannot 

identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: 
BFS presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as 
a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance 
over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision. 

 

Write-off 

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 
This is generally the case when BFS determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income 
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets 
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with BFS’ procedures for 
recovery of amounts due. 

Trade and other receivables 

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records the loss 
allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using this practical expedient, the Group 
uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit 
losses using a provision matrix. The Group assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they 
possess credit risk characteristics based on the days past due. The Group allows 0% for trade receivables based 
on their record for collecting outstanding debt.  

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities  

As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely unchanged from AASB 139, the Group’s financial 
liabilities were not impacted by the adoption of AASB 9. However, for completeness, the accounting policy is 
disclosed below.  

The Group’s financial liabilities include customer investments and trade and other payables. Financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group 
designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at 
FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other than 
derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedging instruments). 

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or 
loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 

g) Contributions Reserve 

Contributions by State Baptist Unions and Associations to financially support the company are taken to this 
reserve. In the event of a winding up, these amounts are subordinated to all creditor obligations.   

h) Future Grants Reserve 

A proportion of the Surplus determined by the Directors is set aside each year to the Future Grants Reserve for 
Baptist ministry. In addition, grants may be made as approved by the Directors to Baptist ministry and charged as 
an expense (refer Note 18). 
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i) Impairment of intangible assets 

Items of computer software which are not integral to the computer hardware and web design owned by the 
Group are classified as intangible assets. Computer software and web design are amortised over the expected 
useful life of three years. 

j) Revenue 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised. 

Interest earned 

Term loans – interest is calculated on the basis of the daily balance outstanding and is charged in arrears to the 
account on the last day of each month. 

Overdraft – interest is calculated initially on the basis of the daily balance outstanding and is charged in arrears 
to the account on the 1st day of each month. 

Non-accrual loan interest – while still legally recoverable, interest is not brought to account as income where 
the company is informed that the account holder has deceased, or, where a loan is impaired. 

Loan origination fees and discounts 

Loan establishment fees and discounts, if applicable, are initially deferred as part of the loan balance, and are 
brought to account as income over the expected life of the loan as interest revenue. 

Transaction costs 

Transaction costs are expenses which are direct and incremental to the establishment of the loan. These costs 
are initially deferred as part of the loan balance, and are brought to account as a reduction to income over the 
expected life of the loan, and included as part of interest revenue. 

Fees on loans 

The fees charged on loans after origination of the loan are recognised as income when the service is provided or 
costs are incurred. 

Net gains and losses  

Net gains and losses on loans to clients to the extent that they arise from the partial transfer of business or on 
securitisation, do not include impairment write downs or reversals of impairment write downs. 

k) Comparative Figures 

Where necessary the comparative figures have been changed to reflect the accounting policies and Accounting 
Standards applied in the current year. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

l) Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call or on 31 days’ notice with banks and 
other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  

m) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Where relevant, revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. Receivables and 
payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. 

n) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and not been adopted early by the Group 
 
AASB 
Reference 

Nature of Change Application 
date 

Impact on Initial Application 

 
AASB 15 
Revenue 
from 
Contracts 
with 
Customers 

 
Revenue from financial instruments is not 
covered by this new Standard, but AASB 
15 establishes a new revenue recognition 
model for other types of revenue. AASB 15 
is based on the principle that revenue is 
recognised when control of a good or 
service transfers to a customer. The 
standard replaces AASB 118 Revenue, 
AASB 111 Construction Contracts and 
related revenue interpretations. 

 
 
Not-for-profit 
entities – 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2019 

 
The Group is yet to undertake a 
detailed assessment of the impact 
of AASB 15. Based upon a 
preliminary assessment, the 
Standard is not expected to have a 
material impact upon the 
transactions and balances 
recognised when it is first adopted, 
as most of the Group’s revenue 
arises from the provision of 
financial services which are 
governed by AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments. Few revenue 
transactions of the Group are 
impacted by the new standard.  

 
AASB 16 
Leases 
(Replaces 
AASB 117) 

 
AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases and 
some lease related interpretations. It 
requires all leases, other than short-term 
and low value asset leases, to be 
accounted for ‘on-balance sheet’ by 
lessees. It also provides new guidance on 
the application of the definition of lease and 
on sale and lease back accounting as well 
as new and different disclosures about 
leases. 

 
Periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2019  

 
The Group is yet to undertake a 
detailed assessment of the impact 
of AASB 16. The Group’s 
preliminary assessment is that as 
they are coming to the end of their 
current lease the Standard will not 
have a material impact on 
transactions and balances 
recognised when first adopted for 
the year ending 31 December 2019 
unless a new long term lease is 
signed. 

 
AASB 1058 
Income of 
Not-for-Profit 
Entities 

 
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the 
income recognition requirements that apply 
to not-to-profit (NFP) entities, in conjunction 
with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. These Standards supersede all 
the income recognition requirements 
relating to private sector NFP entities, and 
the majority of income recognition 
requirements relating to public sector NFP 
entities, previously in AASB 1004 
Contributions. 

 
Periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2019 

 
The Group is yet to undertake a 
detailed assessment of the impact 
of AASB 1058. However, based on 
the entity’s preliminary assessment, 
the Standard is not expected to 
have a material impact on the 
transactions and balances 
recognised in the financial 
statements when it is first adopted 
for the year ending 31 December 
2019. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

o) Significant Management Judgement in Applying Accounting Policies 

When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  

Estimation uncertainty  

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.  

Impairment  

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash-generating units, 
based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them. Estimation uncertainty relates to 
assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rate. 

Useful lives of depreciable assets  

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the 
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change 
the utility of certain software and IT equipment.  

Long service leave  

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated cash flows 
to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, 
estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market 
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions 
consistent with how market participants would price the instrument. Management bases its assumptions on 
observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. In that case management uses the best 
information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s 
length transaction at the reporting date. 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents, consists of the following: 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents at call* 7,723,287 7,532,550 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 days’ notice 11,100,085 - 
Total 18,823,372 7,532,550 

* In 2017, $3,866,224 was disclosed as short term investments. 
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5. Loans and Advances – interest bearing 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Secured Loans (see below) 239,571,094  230,606,195  
Other interest bearing loans (unsecured) 622,597  756,466  
Secured Loans to related entities (Note 21) 8,704,970  836,341  
Less: Allowance for Impairment of loans (see below) (3,444,015)  (3,618,738) 
Total Net Loans 245,454,646 228,580,264 

 
Mortgage securities, offset arrangements or an undertaking from the Baptist Churches of New South Wales 
Property Trust to enter into a Mortgage, are held for secured loans and certain loans to related entities. 

The average of the total security value held against all secured loans (Loan to Value Ratio - LVR) at 31 
December 2018 was 35% (2017: 33%) with a median ratio of 34% (2017: 33%). The current policy of the group 
is that loans to Baptist entities are not to exceed 75% of the security valuation and loans to other entities are not 
to exceed 67% of security valuation. This loan to value ratio can be varied by the provision of other appropriate 
security at the discretion of the Directors. This is not to imply that all existing loans meet these criteria. 

6. Financial Commitments 
 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Outstanding Loan Commitments   
Loans approved but not advanced 76,627,857 45,508,484 
   
Loan Redraw Facilities   
Loan redraw facilities available 35,280,406 34,800,509 
   
Undrawn Overdraft Loan Facilities   
Loan facilities available for overdraft loans are as follows:   
Total value of facilities approved 13,860,000  12,310,000  
Amounts advanced (included in Secured Loans – Note 5) (11,997,384)  (7,656,110) 
Net undrawn value 1,862,616  4,653,890  

 

These commitments are contingent on borrowers maintaining credit standards, loan terms & conditions and 
ongoing repayment terms on amounts drawn. 
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6. Financial Commitments (continued) 
Computer Software Licensing & Maintenance 

The Company has costs committed under contracts for software licensing & maintenance as follows: 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Not later than one year 243,282  134,321  
Later than one year but not later than two years 155,450  156,313  
Later than two years but not later than five years 349,763  440,232  
Over five years -  36,686  
 784,495  767,552  

Bureau and Settlement Services 
The Company has costs committed under a contract for Bureau & Settlement services as follows: 
Not later than one year 156,600  153,876  
Later than one year but not later than two years -  -   
Later than two years but not later than five years -  -   
Over five years -  -   
 156,600 153,876 

 

Analysis of Loans and Advances 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Debts Receivable:   
 Overdrafts 11,997,384  7,656,110  
 No longer than 3 months 7,081,685  8,107,326  
 Longer than 3 months and not longer than 12 months 29,093,141  32,328,581  
 Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 76,836,353  70,792,059  
 Longer than 5 years 123,890,098  113,314,926  
Allowance for Impairment of Loans (3,444,015)  (3,618,738) 
 245,454,646  228,580,264  

7. Impairment of Financial Assets 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Expected credit loss on loans:   

Opening balance 3,618,738  3,640,450  
Impact of adoption of AASB 9 (10,294) - 
Charge for the year (164,429)  -   
Amount written off -  (21,712) 
Closing balance 3,444,015 3,618,738  

 

The expected credit loss breakdown is as follows: 

     
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  

 
12 months ECL 

Collectively assessed 
 

Lifetime ECL 
Individually assessed 

 

Lifetime ECL 
Individually assessed 

 
Total 

 

Secured lending 1,550,109 1,818,191 - 3,368,300 
Unsecured lending 56,076 19,639 - 75,715 
Total 1,606,185 1,837,830 - 3,444,015 
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8. Other Receivables & Prepayments 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Interest Accrued 681,564  665,302  
Other Receivables 515,780  397,301  
 1,197,344  1,062,603  

9. Investments 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Investments held at fair value through other comprehensive income   
Term deposits 52,166,000 - 
Bonds (Cost: $57,160,122) 57,449,237 - 

- Bank issuers 56,449,848  
- Non-bank issuers 999,390  

Hybrid securities (Cost: $41,168,473) 41,538,285 - 
Structured products/Covered bonds (Cost: $2,500,000) 2,501,770 - 

 153,655,292 -  
 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Held to Maturity at cost – see Note 2.1   
Listed convertible preference shares -  38,678,744  

(Market Value (2017: $40,004,768))   
Other listed securities -  934,650  

(Market Value (2017: $769,500))   
Unlisted securities   
Approved Deposit Taking Institutions   

Australian Banks          -  71,905,400  
Australian Subsidiaries of Overseas Banks -  10,000,920  
Other -  5,711,153  

Non-Bank Investments   
At cost          -  3,000,000  
Less: Allowance for Impairment   -   

 -  130,230,867  
 

Reconciliation of fair value movement during the year: 

 2018 
 $ 

Opening Balance - 
Impact of AASB 9 adoption 1,958,927 
Fair value adjustments during the year (1,298,230) 
Closing Balance 660,697 
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9. Investments (continued) 

Investments – Maturity Analysis 

At call - 3,866,224  
Not longer than 3 months 38,957,107 4,216,000  
Longer than 3 months and not longer than 12 months 24,495,480 10,357,284  
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 2 years 33,944,202 21,753,628  
Longer than 2 years and not longer than 3 years 22,740,865 29,621,800  
Longer than 3 years and not longer than 4 years 10,862,460 18,994,450  
Longer than 4 years and not longer than 5 years 3,986,751 11,132,030  
Longer than 5 years 17,832,547  29,354,801  
Maturity at discretion of issuer 835,880 934,650  
 153,655,292  130,230,867 

 

In 2017 certain at call cash amounts were included in Investments but are included in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents in 2018. 

10. Non-Current Asset Held for Sale 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Property - Riverstone -  2,416,556  

 -   2,416,556  

 

In 2006, the company repossessed the security on a non-performing loan and extinguished the loan receivable. 
In the prior year the property was held at cost under AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations being the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. In the current year BFS funded 
the repurchase of the asset at carrying value to the previous owner.  

11. Other Assets 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Furniture and Equipment   
Leasehold Improvements, Furniture & Computers - at cost 472,930 420,140  
Less : Accumulated Depreciation   (372,052) (294,305) 
 100,878 125,835  
Other Intangible Assets   
Software & Web Design - at cost 830,681 632,616  
Less: Accumulated Depreciation   (610,081) (563,673) 
 220,600 68,943  
 321,478 194,778  
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12. Payables 

Payables – Interest bearing based on actual maturity date 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Investments at call 107,117,400  92,390,244  
Investments at 31 days’ notice 84,137,486 50,063,082 
Term Investments 193,154,293 191,286,558 

 384,409,178  333,739,884  

Payables – Interest bearing based on withdrawal experience 

Current Liabilities – payable not later than 12 months   
 Investments from Baptist & Christian organisations 30,179,124  24,569,764  
 Loan offset Savings Accounts 4,307,179  4,350,733 
 Investments from Individuals & other organisations 11,642,798    10,699,676  

 46,129,101  39,620,173  
Non-Current Liabilities - payable later than 12 months   
 Investments from Baptist & Christian organisations 221,313,579   183,750,043  
 Loan offset Savings Accounts 31,585,982   31,905,377  
 Investments from Individuals & other organisations 85,380,516   78,464,291  

 338,280,077  294,119,711  
Investments are classified according to maturity date and the rollover experience 

Term Investments and BFS Borrowings from Clients – Maturity Analysis 

At call 107,117,400  92,390,244  
Longer than at call and not longer than 3 months 116,141,989   132,065,771  
Longer than 3 months and not longer than 12 months 134,979,460  93,237,636  
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 2 years 16,743,450  13,505,950  
Longer than 2 years and not longer than 5 years 9,426,879  2,540,283  
Longer than 5 years -  -   
 384,409,178  333,739,884 

Concentration of Payables 

There were no individuals or organisations which in aggregate represent more than 10% of the liabilities for 
Payables - Interest Bearing. The majority of the payables are with Baptist Churches in Australia or with 
individuals or organisations having an association with Baptist Churches in Australia.  
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13. Trade and Other Payables 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Current:   
 Accrued term investment interest 2,157,615  2,585,539  
 Sundry creditors 370,178  182,212  
 Income received in advance -  103,125  
 Employee benefit provisions 268,678  275,484  
 Swap derivative liability 402,556 - 
 Make good provision 48,591 - 
Total trade and other payables 3,247,618  3,146,360  

14. Accumulated Funds 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Accumulated Funds - Total    
Adjusted balance at beginning of year 13,331,336  11,001,456  
Operating Surplus 4,418,832  4,457,912  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (1,162,973)  (1,144,218) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (927,478)  (994,108) 
Balance at end of year 15,659,717  13,321,042  
Accumulated Funds - New South Wales & ACT   
Adjusted balance at beginning of year 7,245,365 5,966,728 
Share of Operating Surplus before Grants 2,538,432 2,416,669 
Share of Grants expended to Baptist ministries (628,421) (604,750) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (523,724) (543,576) 
Balance at end of year 8,631,652 7,235,071 
Accumulated Funds - Victoria   
Balance at beginning of year 1,866,947  1,577,465  
Share of Operating Surplus before Grants 635,244 671,079  
Share of Grants expended to Baptist ministries (234,711)  (257,534) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (120,160)  (124,063) 
Balance at end of year 2,147,320  1,866,947  
Accumulated Funds - South Australia   
Balance at beginning of year 1,774,608  1,471,496  
Share of Operating Surplus before Grants 487,810  532,421  
Share of Grants expended to Baptist ministries (106,996)  (99,404) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (114,244)  (129,905) 
Balance at end of year 2,041,178  1,774,608  
Accumulated Funds - Northern Territory   
Balance at beginning of year 32,504  20,976  
Share of Operating Surplus before Grants 14,518  16,468  
Share of Grants expended to Baptist ministries (908) - 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (4,083)  (4,940) 
Balance at end of year 42,031  32,504  
Accumulated Funds – Tasmania   
Balance at beginning of year 273,866  241,171  
Share of Operating Surplus before Grants 72,521 73,908  
Share of Grants expended to Baptist ministries (30,033)  (27,200) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (12,746)  (14,013) 
Balance at end of year 303,608  273,866  
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14. Accumulated Funds (continued) 
Accumulated Funds - Western Australia   
Balance at beginning of year 1,980,346 1,596,918 
Share of Operating Surplus before Grants 587,305 654,754 
Share of Grants expended to Baptist ministries (126,716) (107,000) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (138,177) (164,326) 
Balance at end of year 2,302,758  1,980,346  
Accumulated Funds - Baptist Union of Australia   
Balance at beginning of year 157,700 126,702 
Share of Operating Surplus before Grants 83,002 92,613 
Share of Grants expended to Baptist ministries (35,189) (48,330) 
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (14,344) (13,285) 
Balance at end of year 191,169  157,700  

 

In accordance with Memorandums of Understanding entered into between BFS and the Baptist Unions and 
Associations of New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia, Tasmania, Western Australia and the Baptist Union 
of Australia Inc., a portion of the surpluses will be allocated in accordance with the directions of those entities. 

15. Reserves 

a. Contributions Reserve 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Contributions Reserve - Total   
Balance at beginning of year 14,950,000  14,950,000  
Contributions Received  -    -   
Balance at end of year  14,950,000   14,950,000  
Contributions Reserve - New South Wales   
Balance at beginning of year  8,000,000   8,000,000  
Contribution Received  -    -   
Balance at end of year  8,000,000   8,000,000  
Contributions Reserve - Victoria   
Balance at beginning of year  3,250,000   3,250,000  
Contribution Received  -    -   
Balance at end of year  3,250,000   3,250,000  
Contributions Reserve - South Australia   
Balance at beginning of year  1,275,000   1,275,000  
Contribution Received  -    -   
Balance at end of year  1,275,000   1,275,000  
Contributions Reserve - Tasmania   
Balance at beginning of year  425,000   425,000  
Contribution Received  -    -   
Balance at end of year  425,000   425,000  
Contributions Reserve - Western Australia   
Balance at beginning of year  1,500,000   1,500,000  
Contribution Received  -    -   
Balance at end of year 1,500,000  1,500,000  
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15. Reserves (continued) 
a. Contributions Reserve (continued) 

Contributions Reserve - Baptist Union of Australia   
Balance at beginning of year  500,000   500,000  
Contribution Received  -    -   
Balance at end of year  500,000   500,000  

b. Future Grants Reserve 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Future Grants Reserve - Total   
Balance at beginning of year 994,108  991,381  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 927,478  994,108  
Expended during current year (See Note 14) (994,108)  (991,381) 
Balance at end of year 927,478  994,108  
Future Grants Reserve - New South Wales   
Balance at beginning of year 543,576  530,365  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 523,724  543,576  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (543,576)  (530,365) 
Balance at end of year 523,724  543,576  
Future Grants Reserve - Victoria   
Balance at beginning of year 124,063  116,918  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 120,160  124,063  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (124,063)  (116,918) 
Balance at end of year 120,160  124,063  
Future Grants Reserve - South Australia   
Balance at beginning of year 129,905  136,293  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 114,244  129,905  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (129,905)  (136,293) 
Balance at end of year 114,244  129,905  
Future Grants Reserve - Northern Territory   
Balance at beginning of year 4,940  5,132  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 4,083  4,940  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (4,940)  (5,132) 
Balance at end of year 4,083  4,940  
Future Grants Reserve - Tasmania   
Balance at beginning of year 14,013  13,847  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 12,746  14,013  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (14,013)  (13,847) 
Balance at end of year 12,746  14,013  
Future Grants Reserve - Western Australia   
Balance at beginning of year 164,326  176,182  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 138,177  164,326  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (164,326)  (176,182) 
Balance at end of year 138,177  164,326  
Future Grants Reserve - Baptist Union of Australia   
Balance at beginning of year 13,285  12,644  
Transfer (to)/from accumulated funds 14,344  13,285  
Grants expended to Baptist ministries (13,285)  (12,644) 
Balance at end of year 14,344  13,285  
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15. Reserves (continued) 
c. Fair value through other comprehensive income Reserve  

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

   
Balance at beginning of year - -  
Impact of AASB 9 adoption – adjustment of investments to fair value 1,958,927 -  
Changes in derivative liability (402,556) - 
Fair value change in investments at FVOCI (Note 9) (1,298,230)  - 
Balance at end of year 258,141  -  

 

16. Risk Management 

Risk management framework 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Consolidated Entity's 
risk management framework. The Board maintains an Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (ARCCo), an Assets 
& Liabilities Committee (ALCo), a Board Governance & Remuneration Committee (BGRCo) and a Credit 
Committee (CCo) to oversee the financial reporting and audit and risk management processes. 

The ARCCo’s major role, within the BFS risk management organisational structure, is to monitor BFS’s approved 
policies and procedures in relation to: 

 Internal Controls & Risk Management  
 Statutory and Financial Reporting Requirements 
 Auditor Independence & Performance 
 Internal Audit 
 Compliance with Law, Regulations & Policies 
 Review any other matters as determined by the Board from time to time.  

The ALCo’s major role is to monitor BFS’s approved policies and procedures in relation to the management and 
control of: 

 Credit Risk 
 Liquidity Risk 
 Market Risk 
 Balance Sheet Risk 
 Capital Management Risk 

The BGRCo's major role is to make recommendations to the Board in respect of: 

 The Nomination and Roles of New Directors 
 The Nomination of Directors to Board Committees 
 Annual Board & Committee Assessment 
 Professional Development of Directors & Staff 
 Conflict of Interest Disclosure & Management 
 The Selection, Interview of a CEO, Establish Objectives and Review Performance 
 The Selection, Interview of Special Board Appointees and Review Performance in conjunction with the 

CEO 
 the Monitoring of staff performance & salaries, director remuneration, continuous improvement systems 

and processes with the CEO 

The CCo’s major role is to approve certain loans or variations to existing loans within delegated limits from the 
Board and to recommend changes to Loans Policy to the Board. 
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16. Risk Management (continued) 
BFS has undertaken the following strategies to minimise the risks arising from financial instruments: 

Market risk 

The company has no exposure to currency risk. 

The company's exposure to interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result 
of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate exposures are reviewed at least monthly and provided regularly 
to ALCo and Board meetings. 

Credit risk – Loans 

The risk of losses from the loans undertaken is primarily reduced by the nature and quality of the security taken. 
Company policy is to maintain no more than $1.5 million in unsecured loans, with the balance of loans secured 
by mortgage, offset arrangements, an undertaking from the Baptist Churches of New South Wales Property Trust 
to enter into a Mortgage, or an interest in property or other guarantees. 

Credit risk – investments 

The risk of losses from investments is reduced by the limited concentration in any one entity. Company policy is 
to limit any investments with one investee to a maximum of 10% of total funds under management with the 
exception that this limit is not applied to investments in the "big four" Australian banks. All securities and other 
deposits with Institutions must have an investment grade rating by Standard and Poor's from AAA to BBB-, or 
equivalent, with the exception of investments lodged with an APRA regulated bank, building society or credit 
union (ADI). 

Non ADI investments are limited to a maximum of 10% of total investments. 

Liquidity risk 

The company has undertaken to investors to maintain at least 20% of total investments from clients in readily 
realisable investments in order to maintain adequate funds for meeting withdrawal requests. This undertaking to 
investors is incorporated in the Identification Statement lodged with ASIC. The ratio is checked at least monthly 
by management and is reported regularly to ALCo and the Board. 

Operational Risks 

Operational risk is a risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the 
Company's processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, 
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted 
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Company's operations and are faced by 
all business entities. The Company's objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of 
financial losses and damage to the Company's reputation with overall cost effectiveness. 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 
assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of 
the overall Company's standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 

 Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of 
transactions 

 Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions  
 Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements 
 Documentation of controls and procedures 
 Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 

procedures to address the risks identified 
 Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action 
 Development of contingency and business continuity plans 
 Training and professional development 
 Ethical and business standards aligned to stated BFS values 
 Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective 
 Compliance with the company's standards is supported by a program of internal audit using both 

internal and external resources. 
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16. Risk Management (continued) 

Average Balance Sheet and Interest Rates 

The effective weighted average interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities are as follows: 

 
Average Balance 

Interest  
(At rates applicable 

at balance date) 
Average Rate 

 $ $ % 

2018    
Financial Assets    
Cash and liquid assets 19,091,679 286,087 1.50 
Investments with other financial institutions 136,755,405 5,291,163 3.87 
Loans and Advances * 235,097,172 12,011,306 5.11 

 390,944,256 17,588,556  4.50 
Financial Liabilities    
Client Investments 367,359,822 9,786,700 2.66 
    
2017    
Financial Assets    
 Cash and liquid assets  3,116,844   3,101   0.10  
 Investments with other financial institutions  148,237,584   5,251,254   3.54  
 Loans and Advances  212,657,450  11,153,579 5.36  
  364,011,878  16,407,934  4.57  
Financial Liabilities    
Client Investments 334,162,590  9,239,799 2.77 

 

Credit Risk 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to loans and advances is the carrying amount.  

At balance date this amounted to $245,454,686 (2017: $228,580,264). Loans and advances primarily comprise 
commercial loans to Baptist and other Christian entities secured by mortgage over freehold property, offset 
arrangements or an interest in property. The loan portfolio comprises a mix of loan to value ratios, ranging from 
conservative to high. 

The total risk exposure for all unimpaired loans exceeding $2 million at balance date was $84,136,812 
representing 27 borrowers (2017: 26 totalling $127,376,597). Each of these loans is fully secured by mortgage 
over freehold property, offset arrangements or an interest in property. 

In the 2018 year, loan facilities of $27.5 million were approved for the purpose of the construction of a new office 
and learning facilities at a Christian college. As at 31 December 2018 the balances of these loan facilities totalled 
$7,032,315. 

In the 2017 year, loan facilities of $27.5 million were approved for the purpose of the redevelopment of a Baptist 
Church comprising a mix of residential apartments and church facilities. As at 31 December 2017 the balances of 
these loan facilities totalled $22,082,324 and have been repaid in full during 2018. 
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16. Risk Management (continued) 

Credit Risk (continued) 

The total of loans past due are $147,089 at year end (2017: $785,731).  

Refer to Note 7 for further explanation of the Allowance for Impairment.  

The carrying amount of a loan that would otherwise be past due or impaired and whose terms have been 
renegotiated are as follows: 

At 31st December 2018 the Company had loans with a carrying value totalling $10,376,469 (2017: $5,507,909) 
with a client representing a significant concentration of credit risk exposure. BFS has security by way of first 
mortgage and an equitable charge over the client’s assets which fully secure the loans made by BFS to the 
client. A contingent liability may exist in respect of an assurance of funding given by BFS for the approved cash 
flows and liabilities of the client until at least 31 December 2018. BFS has also indemnified each Director of this 
client in the event of a claim being made against them for insolvent trading where the liability for such claim is 
due to the failure of BFS to perform its obligations under the funding agreement. 

Apart from the above, Baptist Financial Services Australia Ltd does not have any other material credit risk 
exposure to any single borrower or group of borrowers under financial instruments entered into by it. 

 

17. Other Expenses 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Employee Benefits and Costs 2,187,000  1,636,611  
Website, Software and Computer Systems 426,137  401,520  
Occupancy 137,772  119,482  
Depreciation and Amortisation 124,153  92,651  
Other General Administration Expenses 1,493,538  1,151,276  
Total Other Expenses 4,368,600  3,401,540  
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18. Net Operating Surplus 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Operating surplus 4,418,832  4,457,912  
Is arrived at after including as revenue: 
 Interest Received 16,579,247 15,389,957 
And after charging as expenses: 
 Auditor’s Remuneration   

 Audit Fees –   Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 74,184 69,350 
(No other benefits were received by the auditor)   

 Amortisation of other intangible assets and software 34,393  11,399  
 Interest paid 8,204,354  7,695,799  
 Depreciation of furniture & equipment and leasehold improvements  89,760  81,252  
 Employee benefits and costs 2,187,000  1,636,611  
Payment of Grants are shown in the Statement of Changes in Accumulated Funds and Reserves 
 Grants paid from current year result 1,162,973  1,144,218  
 Grants paid from Future Grants Reserve 994,108  991,381  

 

The total number of employees at balance date was 24 (2017: 22) which represented 22.0 (2017: 19.6) full-time 
equivalent (FTEs). 

19. Segment Reporting 
The company is a National Baptist Ministry, being a Delegated Body of the Baptist Union of Australia Inc., and 
provides the facilitation of the financing of Baptist entities affiliated with participating Baptist Unions and other 
Christian Churches & organisations.  

The Company holds and operates with an Australian Financial Services Licence - AFSL 311062. 

20. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

(1) Reconciliation of Cash 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Cash at call 7,723,287  7,532,550  
Cash at 31 days’ notice 11,100,085  -  
 18,823,372  7,532,550  

Cash includes cash at bank and on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and deposits held at-call or on 31 days’ notice. It is 
noted that cash and investments which, if required, are readily realisable within 5 business days amounted to 
$66,448,871 (2017: $84,574,904) at balance date. 
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20. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 

(2) Reconciliation of surplus to net cash from operating activities 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Operating surplus 4,418,832  4,457,912  
Amortisation 34,393  11,399  
Depreciation 89,761  81,252  
(Decrease)/Increase in accrued term investment interest (427,919)  (100,367) 
Decrease/(Increase) in sundry debtors and accrued income (134,740)  149,400  
(Decrease)/Increase in sundry creditors 231,678 -  
(Decrease)/Increase in allowance for Impairment of loans (164,429)  (21,712) 
(Decrease)/Increase in employee benefits (6,806)  84,809  
Net Cash from Operating Activities 4,040,770  4,662,693  

21. Related Parties 
 
Australian Baptist Ministries (The Baptist Union of Australia Inc.) appoints up to 12 Directors of the Company. 
Australian Baptist Ministries invites each of the Baptist Association of NSW & ACT, Baptist Union of Victoria, 
Baptist Churches of South Australia Inc., Tasmania Baptists & Western Australia Baptist Churches to nominate 
Directors taking into consideration directors positions for each 12% or part thereof of client funds held on 
investment from the relevant States and the availability of suitable candidates, with reference to the company’s 
Director skills matrix.  

The Baptist Association of NSW & ACT, the Baptist Union of Victoria and Western Australia Baptist Churches 
provided office accommodation facilities for the Company during the year and were compensated for this as 
follows: 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Baptist Association of NSW & ACT 121,699  104,114  
Baptist Union of Victoria 7,369  7,090  
Baptist Churches Western Australia 5,103  4,678  
Payment made to a company associated with a Company Secretary 7,988 18,600 

 

BFS holds monies on investment from various ministries of the Baptist Association of NSW & ACT, Baptist Union 
of Victoria, Baptist Churches of South Australia Inc., Tasmanian Baptist, Western Australia Baptist Churches and 
Australian Baptist Ministries, all of whom are considered to be related entities. Some of these monies are special 
purpose funds and some are monies which are held on investment until applied to general purposes. All 
investments held and loans and advances made are on normal terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other persons unless otherwise specified below. 
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21. Related Parties (continued) 
 Principal Principal 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

New South Wales     
Investments held: 28,294,813  18,539,209  
Loans and Advances: 7,598,385  414,010  
Victoria   
Investments held: 19,120,322  19,553,467  
Loans and Advances: 1,106,586  422,331  
South Australia   
Investments held: 31,100,754  22,324,830  
Northern Territory   
Investments held: 221,097  244,410  
Tasmania   
Investments held: 1,401,984  1,291,290  
Western Australia   
Investments held: 4,728,173  5,289,987  
Baptist Union of Australia Inc.   
Investments held: 4,476,830  4,686,735  
Totals   
Investments held: 89,343,973  71,929,928  
Loans and Advances: 8,704,970  836,341  

Disclosures on Key Management Personnel (KMP) 

Remuneration of KMP 

The key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the company, directly or indirectly, including any Director of the company. Control is 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the company so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.  

Key management personnel (KMP) comprise the 10 (2017: 10) Directors of the Company, the Chief Executive 
Officer and three Executive Staff. The aggregate compensation of KMP during the year comprising amounts paid 
or payable or provided for, but excluding out of pocket expense reimbursements, was as follows:  

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Key Management Personnel Compensation 869,399 522,088 
 869,399 522,088 

 

All remuneration to Directors was approved by the Baptist Union of Australia Inc. and by the members at the last 
Annual General Meeting of the company. 
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21. Related Parties (continued) 

Loans to Key Management Personnel (KMP) 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Aggregate value of 5 year term loans to KMP at beginning of year 27,409  35,948  
Aggregate value of 5 year term loans to KMP at balance date 12,480  27,409  
Aggregate value of 5 year term loans disbursed to KMP during the year -  -   
Aggregate value of highest indebtedness of 5 year term loans to KMP 
during the year  

27,409  35,948  

Aggregate of interest earned on 5 year term loans to KMP during the 
year 

582  2,037  

Aggregate of interest earned if 5 year term loans to KMP were made on 
an arm’s length basis 

582  2,094  

   
Number of KMP in the group 2  2  

 
There are no loans which are impaired in relation to the 5 year term loan balances with KMP. 
There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the close family members of the KMP.  
There are no loans which are impaired in relation to the loan balances with close family relatives of the KMP. 

Other Transactions between Related Parties including Investments from KMP 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Total value of term and savings investments from KMP 121,720   233,491  
   
Total interest paid on investments to KMP 3,456   243  

Loans to Directors and Key Management Personnel 

There are no loans that are impaired in relation to the loan balances with staff, the CEO or other Key 
Management Personnel. Directors may have received interest on investments with BFS during the financial year 
in relation to personal or related entity investment accounts held with BFS. Interest has been paid on terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those ordinarily available on similar accounts to clients of BFS. BFS policy 
for receiving investments from other related parties and in respect of other related party transactions is that all 
transactions are approved and investments accepted on the same terms and conditions that apply to client 
investors for each type of investment. There are no service contracts to which Key Management Personnel or 
their close family members are an interested party, except as otherwise disclosed in this report. 
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22. Parent Entity Information 
Information relating to Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited (the Parent Entity): 

 2018 2017  
 $ $  
Statement of financial position   
Total assets 419,952,132 366,651,393 
Total liabilities 388,156,633 337,373,283 
Net assets 31,795,499 29,278,110 
Accumulated funds 15,659,880 13,386,854 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income   
Surplus for the year 4,418,670  4,470,873  
Other comprehensive income (1,700,786)  -   
Total comprehensive income 2,717,884  4,470,873  

23. Economic Dependency 
The Company has an operational dependency on three suppliers of services: 

The first supplier is an Approved Deposit Taking Institution registered under the Corporations Act 2001 and the 
Banking Act 1959 and: 

 Facilitates settlement arrangements for the Company with bankers for direct entry and cheque 
transactions; 

 Provides computer bureau services for the hosting of software and the maintenance of database 
records. 

The second supplier provides and maintains the application software for client account and transaction records, 
internet account access, BPay and general ledger services used by the Company. 

The third supplier provides the application software for the imaging and retrieval of client and Company records. 

24. Contingent Liabilities 
Apart from the contingent liability arising from an indemnity set out in Note 16, there are no other contingent and 
unrecorded obligations of a material amount for which provision has not been made. 

25. Post-reporting Date Events 
There are no adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the reporting date and the date 
of authorisation. 
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services  to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

www.grantthornton.com.au 

Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
Correspondence to: 
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230 
 
T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 4445 
E info.nsw@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited and its controlled entity  

Report on the audit of the financial report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Baptist Financial Services Australia Limited and its controlled entity (the Company/ 
Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, accumulated 
funds & reserves and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the Directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the Corporations Act 2001 including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2018 and of its performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended; and  

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, Division 60 of the Australian 
and Not-for-profits Commissions Regulation 2013 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Company’s directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2018, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s 
report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report  

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, ACNC Act and the Corporations Act 
2001. This responsibility also includes such internal control as Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdfn. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 
 

 
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
Madeleine Mattera 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Sydney, 11 April 2019 
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